THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Circuit

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2018-000467

---

RECEIVED  
AUG 15 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Amy S. Kovach..... Plaintiff

v.

Joshua S. Whitley and Karen Whitley, in her Individual Capacity ..... Respondents

And

Joshua S. Whitley..... Defendant/Counterclaimant.

v.

Amy Kovach ..... Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant

And

Joshua S. Whitley..... Defendant/Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

Rodney Thompson..... Third-Party Defendant

Of whom Amy Kovach is the ..... Appellant

---

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in imposing sanctions under Rule 11 and under the South Carolina Frivolous Proceedings Sanctions Act (“FCPSA”) S.C. §§ 15-36-10, *et seq*, where plaintiff followed her attorney’s suggested legal theory, there was never a determination of the merits of her civil conspiracy claims and her civil conspiracy claims were not foreclosed as a matter of law by her prior criminal guilty plea?
  
- II. Did the trial judge err in imposing monetary sanctions in the amount of \$48,000 against a party who agreed to dismiss her action at the defendants’ request within one month of filing and prior to any motion for sanctions against the party?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was commenced on October 15, 2015 with the Appellant's filing of a complaint against the Respondents for Civil Conspiracy. Respondents immediately filed Motions for Sanctions Against Appellant's Counsel, Nancy Bloodgood, and subsequently amended their motions for sanctions to include Appellant in February 2016. The matter came before the trial court for hearing on September 16, 2016 and the trial court issued its order granting sanctions on October 24, 2016. Following Motions for Reconsideration filed by Attorney Bloodgood and Appellant, the trial court held a hearing on January 17, 2017, and entered its final order on February 19, 2018 denying the motions for reconsideration and assessing sanctions against Attorney Bloodgood in the amount of \$15,000 and Appellant in the amount of \$48,000. Appellant served Respondents with its Notice of Appeal on March 13, 2018.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant Amy Kovach (“Kovach”) is a former Berkeley County School District communications director, who was tasked by her superiors with serving as a campaign liaison between the school district and a volunteer “Yes4Schools” Campaign Committee during the 2012 Yes4Schools Improvement Bond Referendum. In this role, she provided information support to district employees and leadership as well as members of the public seeking information regarding the referendum. Defendant Josh Whitley led an organized group opposition to the bond referendum for a variety of reasons; after not receiving an apology from the school district leadership for Kovach’s actions, which he believed to be in violation of the law, he “took his concerns to the Attorney General, and the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (“SLED”) conducted a thorough investigation.” (R. p. 00293). Kovach cooperated with this investigation and requested reimbursement from the school district for legal expenses under South Carolina Code §59-17-110. As a result of this investigation Kovach was indicted on February 11, 2014 for violating South Carolina Code §8-13-1346 by using public funds to promote the school bond referendum. Kovach retained criminal counsel, who provided a vigorous defense, including a motion to dismiss the initial indictment and subsequent motions to disqualify the Attorney General and to change venue. The court denied the motion to dismiss, holding that a bond referendum falls within the prohibition against “the use of public funds, property, or time to influence the outcome of an election” and that the statute imposes individual criminal liability. Ultimately, the matter ended with a guilty plea to two charges, use of government funds to influence the outcome of an election and misconduct in office. Two charges of forgery and one charge of perjury were subsequently dismissed.

Subsequent to her guilty plea on August 24, 2015, Kovach retained Attorney Nancy Bloodgood to represent her in an employment grievance against the Berkeley County School District (“BCSD”) arising from her termination for actions taken during the bond referendum campaign in good faith at the school district’s instruction. When the school board rejected the grievance application without a hearing, Kovach filed suit against the BCSD and other parties. (R. pp. 0045-75) Specifically, Kovach filed this suit on October 15, 2015 against the BCSD, Joshua Whitley, Karen Whitley and other parties who have subsequently been dismissed and are not involved in these motions. On November 3, 2015, approximately two weeks after the complaint was filed, Defendant Joshua Whitley filed an Answer, Affirmative Defenses, Counterclaims and a Third Party Complaint; a motion to Dismiss the Complaint and a Motion for Sanctions against Ms. Bloodgood. (R. pp. 00168-86) No motion for sanctions against Kovach was filed at that time. Shortly thereafter, following an exchange of letters between Ms. Bloodgood and the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office, the Attorney General moved for an order to show cause against Kovach in her criminal case for contempt for information contained in an employment grievance affidavit that was allegedly contrary to information contained in her guilty plea. The rule to show cause did not address, the specific allegations of civil conspiracy raised in the complaint. (R. pp. 00159-67) After consultation with criminal counsel, Kovach instructed Ms. Bloodgood to dismiss the actions as to all parties based upon the threat of new criminal charges being levied against her. By November 23, 2015 all parties had consented to a stipulation of dismissal except the Respondents who demanded attorneys’ fees from Ms. Bloodgood. By letter dated November 25, 2015, counsel for Respondent, Joshua Whitley, demanded payment from Ms. Bloodgood stating, “The dismissal of this action is clearly in your client’s best interest, and we are willing to stipulate, with prejudice, to the same,

accompanied by the payment of attorney fees. It is apparent that there is a significant potential conflict of interest between you and your client which you will need to discuss with her.” (R. pp. 001367-68). Ms. Bloodgood did not ever discuss the payment of attorney fees with Kovach and no other party to this action has moved for sanctions.

On December 2, 2015, Respondent Joshua Whitley filed an Amended Answer, Affirmative Defenses, Amended Counterclaims and an Amended Third Party Complaint. On December 1, 2015 Respondent Karen Whitley filed a general denial answer followed by a December 4, 2015 Motion to Strike Plaintiff’s Stipulation of Dismissal to Karen Whitley. On December 4, 2015, Ms. Bloodgood filed an answer to Respondent Joshua Whitley’s Counterclaims, a Motion to Dismiss the Counterclaims and a Motion to Dismiss Kovach’s Complaint as to Respondent Joshua Whitley. Then on February 11, 2016 Ms. Bloodgood filed Memo in Opposition to the Motion for Sanctions. (R. pp. 00270-90) On February 12, 2016, Respondent Joshua Whitley filed an Amended Motion for Sanctions against Ms. Bloodgood and Kovach personally. (R. pp. 00292-310) On February 23, 2016 Respondent Karen Whitley filed an Amended Motion for Sanctions against Ms. Bloodgood and Appellant. (R. pp. 00311-13) More than three months prior, Kovach had instructed Ms. Bloodgood to dismiss the action as to both Respondents.

Ms. Bloodgood filed a Supplemental Memo in Opposition to the Motion for Sanctions on August 24, 2016. (R. pp. 00314-49) Kovach filed a response to the Amended Motion for Sanctions on September 14, 2016. (R. pp. 00392-547)

On September 16, 2016, the matters came for hearing before The Honorable Jean Toal who stated that, “what we are dealing with is whether or not a complaint was filed that was known to be without factual foundation and therefore violated Rule 11.” (R. p. 001181, lines 3-

5). No testimony was taken from any party, as Judge Toal instead focused only on Kovach's criminal guilty plea and the attorney general's defense of its investigation stating, "I think the parties pretty well got the drift from me I was not going to take any testimony today but, rather, try to deal with these things as motions on the law and on the record as it's been submitted, and, of course, that record includes for you [Assistant Attorney General Creighton Waters] a very fulsome defense of the office [South Carolina Attorney General] and yourself in connection with the submissions that we have received so far." (R. p. 001218, lines 14-20). Judge Toal further stated, "I don't feel discontented that we're not having a factual hearing. I think these matters can very directly be addressed by the very fulsome record we do have on all sides." (R. p. 001219, lines 8-11).

The court issued an order granting sanctions against Ms. Bloodgood and Appellant making extensive findings of fact regarding Kovach's guilty plea and finding, "the facts admitted under oath at the guilty plea, and the plea itself, foreclosed the claim against Defendants for civil conspiracy, because the allegations against them directly contradict Ms. Kovach's material admissions under oath." (R. p. 0017).

Both Ms. Bloodgood and Appellant moved for Reconsideration of the Court's October 24, 2016 Order granting Sanctions which was heard on January 17, 2017. (R. pp. 00619-45 and 001071-81) At that time the trial court heard arguments and took the matter under advisement. The trial court issued an order on February 19, 2018 denying the motions for reconsideration and ordering monetary sanctions under Rule 11, SCRPC and South Carolina Code §15-36-10G(I) against Ms. Bloodgood in the amount of \$15,000 and Kovach in the amount of \$48,000. (R. pp. 0029-32) Kovach timely filed the instant appeal on March 13, 2018.

Kovach believed, and contended, that her criminal prosecution was politically motivated. Respondents opposed the Berkeley County School District 2012 Bond Referendum while simultaneously seeking to remove former Superintendent Rodney Thompson and take control of the school board.<sup>1</sup> Kovach, a recently-hired employee, was specifically tasked by her employer with referendum-related tasks and performed those tasks in good faith. (R. pp. 00449-54, and pp. 0047-49 ¶¶24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 30, 31, 32). She was subsequently caught in the crossfire of warring parties and long simmering feuds within the school district. The premise of Kovach's lawsuit was that the Respondents had made her political fodder in their battle with her superiors in the school district. She contended that, notwithstanding her guilty plea to using public funds to promote the school bond referendum, Respondents and others conspired to procure her prosecution for improper political reasons. Soon after filing suit, Kovach agreed to dismiss her suit. No discovery was conducted and the merits of the civil conspiracy claims were never adjudicated. The lower court nevertheless found that her claims were incompatible with her guilty plea and her suit therefore violated Rule 11 and the FCPSA. The Court then ordered her to pay the Respondents' attorneys' fees – the vast majority of which were incurred in pursuing sanctions. Kovach files the instant appeal because she acted in good faith in bringing her suit in reliance on the advice of counsel and her claims could be reconciled with her guilty plea. Kovach's civil conspiracy claims were never adjudicated, and were certainly never properly found to be frivolous.

---

<sup>1</sup> Indeed, while not appearing in the record, the Court may take judicial notice of the fact that Respondents have succeeded in their goals as Rodney Thompson, who was Appellant's direct supervisor and who directed Appellant's actions during the referendum was also indicted and subsequently resigned and the majority of the school board members in place in 2012 no longer serve on the board and have been replaced by members of the Berkeley County Republican party who promptly fired long-time district counsel Childs and Halligan which provided legal advice to Kovach during and after the referendum.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review of the trial judge's imposition of sanctions on Appellant, Amy Kovach is well settled. The determination of whether sanctions under Rule 11 or under the FCPSA is treated as one in equity. *See In re Beard*, 359 S.C. 351, 357, 597 S.E.2d 835, 838 (Ct. App. 2004)(applying equitable standard of review of factual findings in action for sanctions); accord *Hanahan v. Simpson*, 326 S.C. 140, 485 S.E.2d 903 (1997). In an action in equity tried by the trial judge alone, the this Court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* "However, the abuse of discretion standard plays a role in the appellate review of a sanctions award." *Ex parte Gregory*, 378 S.C. 430, 437, 663 S.E.2d 46, 50 (2008). Where the appellate court agrees with the lower court's findings of fact, it reviews the decision to award sanctions under an abuse of discretion standard under which the imposition of sanctions will not be disturbed unless its decision is controlled by an error of law or is based on unsupported factual conclusions. *Id.* accord *Southeastern Site Prep, LLC v. Atlantic Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC*, 394 S.C. 97, 104, 713 S.E.2d 650, 653-54 (Ct. App. 2011). For the reasons discussed below, the lower court's imposition of sanctions on Appellant, Amy Kovach was in error and this Court should reverse and vacate that determination.

### **II. THE TRIAL JUDGE SHOULD NOT HAVE IMPOSED SANCTIONS OF \$48,000 UPON AMY KOVACH**

The lower court imposed sanctions under Rule 11 of the SCRCF and the FCPSA, S.C. Code §15-36-10 for her filing of an action for civil conspiracy. The trial court incorrectly applied both Rule 11 and the FCPSA by imposing sanctions upon a party who acted upon the

advice of counsel, without the benefit of any discovery or a trial on the merits, and by making factual findings that the record did not support. In addition, the trial court violated Plaintiff's right to petition the government as guaranteed by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. In this case, the Respondents failed in their burden as they provided no evidence that any of the allegations pertaining to civil conspiracy were untrue. Furthermore, both Rule 11 and the FCPSA do not impose liability upon a represented party for the legal theories recommended by her counsel and neither impose any form of liability upon a party until after the conclusion of trial.

**A. The Lower Court Erred in Imposing Sanctions Upon a Party Under Rule 11 and the FCPSA With No Discovery or Trial Finding The Claims Lacked Factual and Legal Support**

**1. Sanctions Under Rule 11 or the FCPSA are Impermissible Against a Represented Party Prior to the Conclusion of Trial.**

Under the South Carolina Code §15-36-10(A)(4) , “An attorney or pro se litigant participating in a civil or administrative action or defense may be sanctioned for:

- (a) Filing a frivolous pleading, motion or document if:
  - (ii) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe that under the facts, his claim or defense was clearly not warranted under existing law and that a good faith or reasonable argument did not exist for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law;
  - (iii) a reasonable attorney presented with the same circumstances would believe that the procurement, initiation, continuation, or defense of a civil cause was intended merely to harass or injure the other party; or
  - (iv) a reasonable attorney presented with the same circumstances would believe the pleading, motion, or document is frivolous, interposed for merely delay, or merely brought for any purpose other than securing proper discovery, joinder of parties, or adjudication of the claim or defense upon which the proceedings are based. ).

S.C. Code Ann. §15-36-10(A)(4)(a)(ii)-(iv)

The FCPSA takes into account the following factors in determining whether an attorney, party or pro se litigant has violated the FCPSA:

- (1) the number of parties;
- (2) the complexity of the claims or defenses;
- (3) the length of time available to the attorney, party, or pro se litigant to investigate and conduct discovery for alleged violations of subsection (A)(4);
- (4) information disclosed or undisclosed to the attorney, party, or pro se litigant through discovery and adequate investigation;
- (5) previous violations of the provisions of this section;
- (6) the response, if any, of the attorney, party, or pro se litigant to the allegation that he violated the provisions of this section; and
- (7) other factors the court considers just, equitable, or appropriate under the circumstances.

See S.C. Code Ann. §15-36-10(E)(1)-(7)

Under South Carolina Code Ann. §15-36-10(C),

“At the conclusion of a trial and after a verdict for or a directed verdict against damages has been rendered or a case has been dismissed by a directed verdict, summary judgment, or judgment notwithstanding the verdict, upon motion of the prevailing party, the court shall proceed to determine if the claim or defense was frivolous. An attorney, party, or pro se litigant shall be sanctioned for a frivolous claim or defense if the court finds the attorney, party or pro se litigant failed to comply with one of the following conditions:

- (a) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe that under the facts, his claim or defense was clearly not warranted under existing law and that a good faith or reasonable argument did not exist for the extension, modification or reversal of existing law;
- (b) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe that his procurement, initiation, continuation, or defense of the civil suit was intended merely to harass or injure the other party; or,
- (c) a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe that the case or defense was frivolous as not properly founded in fact or was interposed merely for delay, or was merely brought for a purpose other than securing proper discovery, joinder of proposed parties, or adjudication of the claim or defense upon which the proceedings are based.”

The FCPSA makes clear that the trial judge could only consider sanctions against Kovach *after the conclusion of the case by dispositive motion or trial in favor of the moving party.*

“Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the court’s place to change the meaning of a clear and

unambiguous statute.” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 83, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). As expressly set forth in the statute, a motion for sanctions under the FCPSA is only ripe upon the resolution of a case on the merits by ruling on a dispositive motion or trial verdict. *Holmes v. East Cooper Comm. Hosp., Inc.*, 408 S.C. 138, 160, 758 S.E.2d 483, 495 (2014) (finding “Motions made pursuant to the FCPSA are post-trial motions.”). Furthermore, the statute does not require a represented party to determine whether a claim is warranted under existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification or reversal of existing law.

Similarly, Rule 11 provides that the signature of an attorney certifies that “He has read the pleading, motion or other paper; that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief there is good ground to support it; and that it is not interposed for delay.” SCRCF Rule 11. South Carolina’s Rule 11 requirements are substantially the same as its federal counterpart which “require[s] an attorney conduct a reasonable investigation of the factual and legal basis for his claim before filing.” *Brubaker v. City of Richmond*, 943 F.2d 1363, 1373 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991). (emphasis added). Rule 11 requires an attorney, and not her client, to verify the legal sufficiency of a filing. Such an investigation must be objectively reasonable and uncover some evidence to support the allegations contained in the complaint. *See Giganti v. Gen-X Strategies, Inc.* 222 F.R.D. 299 (E.D. Va., 2004). It is not necessary that an attorney prove every aspect of his case at the time of filing, and “in this regard, a pre-filing factual investigation is objectively reasonable provided it ‘uncover[s] some information to support the allegations in the complaint and a pre-filing legal investigation passes muster under Rule 11 provided the claim has some ‘chance of success under existing precedent’, even if that chance amounts to a mere ‘glimmer.’” *Giganti* at 310, citing *Hoover Universal, Inc. v. Brockway Imco, Inc.*, 809 F.2d 1039, 1044 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987).<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Other jurisdictions provide guidance similar guidance in defining “frivolous” in its ordinary legal sense. See e.g. *Nietzke v. Williams*, 490 U.S. 319, 325, 109 S. Ct. 1827, 1831 – 32 (1989)(United States Supreme Court defined a

## 2. Sanctions Under Rule 11 or the FCPSA Against a Party Represented by Counsel are Inappropriate When Levied for Legal Theories Recommended by Counsel

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