THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Circuit

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2018-000467

Amy S. Kovach, Plaintiff,

v.

Joshua S. Whitley and Karen Whitley, in her Individual Capacity, Respondents,

And

Joshua S. Whitley, Defendant/Counterclaimant,

v.

Amy Kovach, Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant,

And

Joshua S. Whitley, Defendant/Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

Rodney Thompson, Third-Party Defendant,

Of whom Amy Kovach is the Appellant.

RECEIVED
JUN 04 2018
SC Court of Appeals

RESPONDENTS' JOINT BRIEF

Joshua S. Whitley, Esquire
SC Bar No.: 77824
Smyth Whitley, LLC

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

In our democratic society, a public official is answerable to the public; members of the public are not third-party interlopers. Because of Angus's status as a public official, we conclude her action for civil conspiracy cannot be maintained against any of these defendants. The Court of Appeals' decision overturning the grant of summary judgment to Newspaper and Developer is therefore reversed.

Angus II, 368 S.C. at 170-171, 628 S.E.2d at 262. Likewise, here, Mr. Whitley, as a private citizen and member of the public, had every legal right as a citizen to report Kovach's illegal acts to the authorities, and cannot be held liable for conspiracy in doing so under South Carolina law.

Kovach completely ignores the *Angus II* decision in her Initial Brief. The Respondents in this action, who suspected criminal activity, had the right to make a complaint to the Attorney General. Indeed, as Justice Toal recognized, they had the right to be wrong – that is, had the Attorney General not found criminal activity, a civil conspiracy claim would still not exist against the persons that reported suspected criminal activity to authorities. Nevertheless, Mr. Whitley got it right – Kovach had indeed committed the very criminal acts he complained of to the Attorney General. In fact, Kovach admitted to committing these criminal acts, pled guilty, and was sentenced.

Kovach also ignores the requirement that she demonstrate a causal relationship between the combination element of a conspiracy claim and the damage sustained. Here, any damage she sustained was the result of her criminal conduct, for which she entered a plea of guilty, including an admission to the entire factual predicate for the crimes charged. Moreover, the actual claim asserted in the Complaint was a conspiracy to have her prosecuted for her criminal activity – despite her having entered a plea of guilty for that misconduct. (Complaint, ¶ 159.)

Kovach also failed to allege special damages flowing from the conspiracy. Kovach's purported damages flowing from the conspiracy—public humiliation, reputational damage, loss of career opportunities, etc.—proximately flow not from the alleged conspiracy but from the SLED

investigation, the criminal indictments, Kovach's guilty plea, sentencing, resulting termination from her employment, and the public notoriety surrounding all of those proceedings that were brought upon her by her own choices and criminal acts. These damages cannot qualify as special damages required supporting a claim for civil conspiracy. *See, e.g., Lawson v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections*, 340 S.C. 346, 352, 532 S.E.2d 259, 261 (2000) (finding summary judgment proper where no special damages alleged).

Finally, Kovach asserts, wrongly, that her claims against the Whitleys are akin to a claim for abuse of process, which "does not require proof of innocence." (Initial Brief, p. 17.) In *Zurcher v. Bilton*, 379 S.C. 132, 136, 666 S.E.2d 224, 226 (2008), the plaintiff brought an abuse of process claim based on facts to which he had entered a plea of guilty. The Court held that his claim was precluded by his guilty plea. Likewise, here, Kovach's claims against the Whitleys hinge upon her innocence. They cannot be held liable for conspiracy for bringing her claims to light, pursuant to *Angus II*.

III. Kovach's Civil Conspiracy Claims Were Foreclosed By The Doctrines Of Collateral Estoppel and Judicial Estoppel.

No actionable claim for civil conspiracy could exist against the Whitleys because of Kovach's admissions under oath at the sentencing hearing. There is no question that Kovach is *bound by her guilty plea* and cannot take a position contrary to her previous admissions under oath at the guilty plea hearing. In South Carolina, "once a person has been criminally convicted, the person is bound by that adjudication in a subsequent civil proceeding based on the same facts underlying the criminal conviction." *Doe v. Doe*, 346 S.C. 145, 146, 551 S.E.2d 257, 258 (2001). In this context, a plea of guilty is a "confession of guilt, made in a formal manner and has the same effect in law as a verdict of guilty." *Sanders v. Leeke*, 254 S.C. 444, 447, 175 S.E.2d 796,

797 (1970). Thus, a defendant who enters a guilty plea “may be collaterally estopped from litigating the same issue in a subsequent civil suit.” *Zurcher, supra*.

Kovach argues that the doctrine of collateral estoppel was not applicable to her civil claims because she did not make statements or admissions during her guilty plea hearing or in the subsequent show cause hearing regarding the specific civil conspiracy allegations she made against the Respondents in her Complaint. (Initial Brief, pp. 20-21.) She is mistaken. All of the allegations in her Complaint relate to the same issue, i.e., Kovach’s corrupt campaign activities in favor of the Referendum in violation of South Carolina law. Having entered a plea of guilty to corruption, Kovach was estopped from litigating the same issues in a subsequent civil suit. *Zurcher, supra*.⁴

Furthermore, in her Complaint, Kovach specifically contradicts the facts to which she agreed during the sentencing hearing and which established the factual predicate for the crimes she committed. *See e.g.*, Complaint ¶ 38 (“The video plaintiff was working on was not prepared in anticipation of the Referendum”); ¶ 40 (“Plaintiff never personally profited from her position with the Berkeley County School District (“BCSD”) and no one has ever alleged that she did”); ¶ 57 (“The [FOIA’d] emails merely indicated Plaintiff and other BCSD employees were responding to questions about the school bond referendum, providing correct information to the volunteer Referendum committee, and preparing Defendant BCSD Board members for public presentations.”); ¶ 83: (“No public funds were used by Plaintiff to create or pay for any Referendum campaign video. The video Plaintiff finalized for the District in September of 2012

⁴ In addition, Mr. Whitley’s actions were protected by the doctrine of judicial privilege. *See Crowell v. Herring*, 301 S.C. 424, 430, 392 S.E.2d 464, 467 (Ct. App. 1990) (“We hold the absolute privilege exists as to any utterance arising out of the judicial proceeding and having any reasonable relation to it, including preliminary steps leading to judicial action of any official nature...”).

had been started months before the beginning of the Referendum process and for an entirely different purpose.”); ¶ 111 (“The indictment was false and unfounded, as was the first indictment, and was ultimately dismissed); ¶ 106 (“then, after Plaintiff’s Attorney moved to disqualify the Attorney General from the case and change venue, Plaintiff was further retaliated against by the Attorney General’s office with three (3) additional indictments, including a perjury and forgery charge, both of which were completely bogus and were later dismissed by the Attorney General.”); ¶ 123 (“After receiving no support from Defendant BCSD, Plaintiff eventually pled guilty to this particular charge because she had to end the criminal proceedings for her own mental health.”)). Kovach’s litany of false allegations, as also similarly alleged in her grievance Affidavit, prompted the Attorney General to issue a show cause. At the hearing, where she admitted that the allegations of the Complaint conflicted with her admissions during the sentencing hearing, she was admonished for having filed this lawsuit, and she represented, falsely, that it had been dismissed with prejudice. As the trial court properly recognized, she was attempting, through the instant action, to re-litigate her criminal case here and blame the damages she has sustained on others.

Kovach’s reliance on *Haring v. Prosise*, 462 U.S. 306, 308 (1983) is misplaced. That decision was based on Virginia law, which, according to the Court, did not give criminal judgments, whether by guilty plea or verdict, preclusive effect in subsequent civil litigation. By contrast, South Carolina *does* give preclusive effect to guilty pleas. *Zurcher, supra* (holding that ‘so long as a defendant has entered a guilty plea freely and voluntarily, an admission of guilt fully and fairly litigates the matter in the same manner as a contested trial in which a defendant is adjudicated guilty’). The issue of whether Kovach is guilty of the crimes charged has thus been fully and completely litigated. Under South Carolina law, she cannot revisit those issues by

suing those who brought her to justice.

IV. The Trial Judge Properly Awarded Sanctions Against Kovach.

Kovach is equally, if not more, responsible with Bloodgood, for the consequences of the frivolous filing. Rule 11, SCRPC; *Runyon, supra*; *Ex parte Bon Secours St. Francis Xavier Hosp., Inc., supra*. Both Kovach's Affidavit and Complaint contain factual allegations that are irreconcilable with material aspects of her sworn testimony at the sentencing hearing and with conduct she has admitted under oath to committing. Kovach pled guilty to a detailed and clear factual predicate to her crimes as set forth by the Attorney General. Thereafter, she perjured herself in an affidavit to the School Board in which she attempted to deny her guilt. When that was unsuccessful, she filed a lawsuit with similar false accusations. The Attorney General then moved for contempt, wherein Kovach reaffirmed her guilt. Despite Kovach's multiple attempts to qualify her guilt, she is responsible for her criminal misconduct and her past actions. Kovach cannot evade or qualify her guilt and avoid the consequences of the filing of this frivolous lawsuit that directly contradicts her own sworn admissions.

Kovach's argument that she had a "viable claim" under South Carolina law simply begs credulity. First, in South Carolina, a public official cannot maintain such a claim. In *Angus v. Burroughs & Chapin Co.*, 368 S.C. 167, 170, 628 S.E.2d 261, 262 (2006), the Supreme Court instructed that an action for civil conspiracy may not be maintained against a public official because citizens are "not third-party interlopers" and public officials are "answerable to the public." *Id.* Second, having entered a plea of guilty to the corruption, Kovach was estopped from litigating the same issues in a subsequent civil suit. *Zurcher v. Bilton*, 379 S.C. 132, 666 S.E.2d 224 (2008). Third, Whitley's actions are protected by the doctrine of judicial privilege. *See Crowell v. Herring*, 301 S.C. 424, 430, 392 S.E.2d 464, 467 (Ct. App. 1990) ("We hold the

absolute privilege exists as to any utterance arising out of the judicial proceeding and having any reasonable relation to it, including preliminary steps leading to judicial action of any official nature...”). Finally, Kovach was judicially estopped from taking a position contrary to that taken during the sentencing hearing. *Hayne Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey*, 327 S.C. 242, 251, 489 S.E.2d 472, 477 (1997) (holding that the judicial estoppel doctrine “precludes a party from adopting a position in conflict with one earlier taken in the same or related litigation.).

In Mr. Whitley’s Amended Motion for Sanctions, he listed Kovach’s myriad admissions during her sentencing hearing that were in direct conflict to the allegations made in her Complaint. The allegations in Kovach’s grievance Affidavit were *materially the same* - including the allegations of criminal wrongdoing on the part of SLED and the Attorney General’s office - as those alleged in the Complaint. Kovach’s dismissal of the Complaint, which Kovach admitted to contain allegations that were contrary to the statements made during the plea, was of primary concern to the Court during the Show Cause hearing. The Show Cause was only dismissed because Kovach represented to the Court that all claims alleged in the Complaint had been dismissed with prejudice (which was false) and Kovach agreed never to file another claim arising out of the same facts. (Transcript of Show Cause Hearing, pp. 10-11.) The Court’s concern was that the Complaint was rife with false allegations, a fact that Kovach still refuses to acknowledge.

Rule 11 is violated where the allegations of the complaint are contradicted by the plaintiff’s testimony. *Alexander v. Our Lady of Mercy Med. Ctr.*, 99 Civ. 1076 (HB), 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2510 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 7, 2000). And where a plaintiff’s attorney knows of testimony and documents that directly contradict information contained in the Complaint, yet fails to verify and explore that evidence, sanctions are appropriate due to the attorney’s failure to

conduct a reasonable investigation. *Houtakker v. Houtakker (In re Estate of Houtakker)*, 226 Wisc. 2d 562, 596 N.W.2d 501 (Wis. Ct. App. 1999). The Second Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the imposition of Rule 11 sanctions against a plaintiff's attorney for filing a baseless complaint where the allegations the complaint were contradicted by defendant's admissions during testimony given in a prior deposition. *Levine v FDIC*, 2 F.3d 476, 479 (2d Cir. 1993). See *Feister v. Miller*, 2002-Ohio-7396, P1, 2002 Ohio App. LEXIS 7244, *1 (Ohio Ct. App., Tuscarawas County Dec. 31, 2002) (sanctioning an attorney for filing suit and maintaining a will contest action on behalf of a decedent's caregiver, despite his knowledge that the decedent had removed the caregiver as attorney-in-fact prior to his death due to theft and despite the attorney's knowledge that plaintiff had been indicted and entered a plea of guilty to theft from the decedent).

Sanctions were also properly awarded based on the reasoning in *Heck v. Humphrey*, 512 U.S. 477 (1994). In *Heck*, the Supreme Court held that a plaintiff who had been convicted of a crime could not bring a civil rights claim against those whose alleged unlawfulness would undermine the validity of the conviction. The United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida applied *Heck* in *Tozier v. City of Temple Terrace*, No. 8:10-cv-2750, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 101618 (M.D. Fla. 2011) as a basis for an award of sanctions against a plaintiff's attorney. In *Tozier*, the plaintiff was arrested and charged with aggravated battery on a law enforcement officer. He entered a plea of guilty to the lesser charge of assault on a law enforcement officer. He then filed a civil rights suit against the officers involved in his arrest. The court in *Tozier* held that the plaintiff could not maintain such claims because if he prevailed, it would necessarily implicate the validity of the charges for which he had already admitted guilt. The Court noted that allegations in a civil suit that contradict plaintiff's plea of guilty to criminal charges should be rejected. *Id.* at *17 (citing *Ojegba v. Murphy*, 178 F. App'x

888 (11th Cir. 2006)). The Court held that plaintiff's attorney, who had been present when the plea was taken, should have known that the pleading was frivolous and sanctions against the attorney, therefore, were warranted. *Id.* at *18.

Here, Kovach alleges that the Whitleys and others "conspired with each other" to file a complaint with the Attorney General, and took actions to ensure a Resolution was passed by the Berkeley County Republican Party, LLC encouraging the Attorney General to prosecute Kovach. (Complaint, ¶ 159.) She alleges further that the Whitleys and others "played an active and inappropriate role in SLED's investigation and upon information and belief provided false statements to SLED and the Attorney General." (Complaint, ¶ 160.) These allegations, if permitted to proceed, would necessarily undermine the validity of Kovach's guilty plea and conviction. She was properly sanctioned for these specious allegations under Rule 11.

V. The Sanctions Levied Against Kovach Were Reasonable.

As an initial matter, Kovach has failed to preserve her argument concerning the amount of the sanctions imposed against her, as it was first raised in her January 13, 2017 Motion for Reconsideration. *See Johnson v. Sonoco Products Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009) ("An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider."). Ahead of the Court's October 16, 2016 Order, Kovach made no argument concerning the amount of sanctions that should be awarded in the event the Court granted the Whitleys motions, or the method by which such sanctions should be calculated. She has thus waived the issue, and it should not be considered on appeal.

In any event, the sanctions Judge Toal imposed on Kovach were reasonable. In his letter to the trial court segregating fees, counsel for Mr. Whitley expressed his opinion to the trial court that February 10, 2016 was likely the most appropriate demarcation date, as it was the date of

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